IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID	DEVON	BLACKMON
-------	-------	----------

Petitioner,

v. Case Number: SC11-903

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED CONFLICT

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GAIL E. ANDERSON
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar No. 0841544
Leon County Courthouse
301 S. Monroe Street, Suite 401
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(850) 606-8514
Gail.Anderson@flpd2.com

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the direct appeals from

Appellant's criminal convictions and sentences in case number

1D10-2018 and from Appellant's revocation of probation and

sentence in 1D10-2021. The trial held in case number 1D10-2018

also served as the violation of probation hearing in case number

1D10-2021, and the two cases were consolidated for briefing on

appeal. The following symbols will be used to designate

references to the records in these appeals:

"R2018-V[volume number]. [page number]" - two volumes labeled "Record on Appeal";

"R2021. [page number]" - one volume labeled "Record on Appeal."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In case number 1D10-2018, Mr. Blackmon was charged by amended information with burglary of an unoccupied structure (Count 1), petit theft (Count 2), and dealing in stolen property by trafficking (Count 3) (R2018-V1. 3-4). At trial, the court did not instruct the jury that it could not return guilty verdicts for both theft and dealing in stolen property under section 812.025, Florida Statutes (2009), and Petitioner did not request that instruction. Blackmon v. State, 58 So. 3d 343, 345 (Fla. 1st DCA 2011). The jury acquitted Mr. Blackmon of

burglary, but found him guilty of both petit theft and dealing in stolen property (R2018-V1. 38).

The court adjudicated Mr. Blackmon guilty on both Counts 2 and 3 and imposed a sentence of time served on Count 2 and a sentence of five years in prison on Count 3 (R2021. 67-68, 70).

Mr. Blackmon timely filed a notice of appeal (R2018-V1. 42).

In case number 1D10-2021, Mr. Blackmon was charged with fraudulent use of a credit card (Count 1) and theft of a credit card (Count 2) in August of 2006 (R2021. 1). On June 13, 2007, Mr. Blackmon pled nolo contendere to both charges and was ordered to serve 11 months, 15 days in jail to be followed by 24 months of probation (R2021. 22-23, 25-26). On December 28, 2009, the Department of Corrections filed a violation report charging Mr. Blackmon with violating Condition 2 of his probation by failing to pay the costs of supervision (Count 1) and with violating Condition 5 by committing burglary and larceny (Counts 2 and 3) (R2021. 29-31). On February 11, 2010, the Department of Corrections added violations of Condition 16 for failing to pay court costs (Count 4) and of Condition 20 for failing to pay restitution (Count 5) (R2021. 39-41).

On March 31, 2010, at the conclusion of the trial in case number 1D10-2018, the State announced it was not proceeding against Mr. Blackmon on the financial violations, only on the

new law violations (R2021. 45-46). Count 2 charged a new law violation by committing burglary, and Count 3 charged a new law violation by dealing in stolen property (R2021. 45-46). The court found Mr. Blackmon guilty of Counts 2 and 3 (R2021. 47). The court revoked Mr. Blackmon's probation and sentenced him to serve five years in prison concurrent with the sentence imposed in case number 1D10-2018 (R2021. 59, 70). Mr. Blackmon timely filed a notice of appeal (R2021. 77).

On appeal to the First District Court of Appeal, Mr.

Blackmon challenged his convictions for both petit theft and dealing in stolen property (1D10-2018 & 10-2021, Initial Brief of Appellant at 14-18). Mr. Blackmon argued and the State agreed that the trial court fundamentally erred in convicting Mr. Blackmon of both offenses. Blackmon, 58 So. 3d at 345.

However, Mr. Blackmon argued the remedy for this error was a new trial, while the State argued the remedy was to vacate the petit theft conviction. Id.

Mr. Blackmon's argument in the First District relied upon Kiss v. State, 42 So. 3d 810 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010). The First District described the decision in Kiss:

In that case, a jury found the defendant guilty of three counts of dealing in stolen property and one count of grand theft of the same property and in the same course of conduct. <u>Id</u>. at 811. On appeal, the defendant argued that the trial court fundamentally erred by failing to instruct the jury that, pursuant

to section 812.025, it could not return a guilty verdict on both grand theft and dealing in stolen Id. The defendant argued that the trial property. court did not cure this error by adjudicating him quilty of only the dealing in stolen property count and, therefore, he was entitled to a new trial. The Fourth District agreed and remanded for a new Id. The court reasoned that the failure to trial. instruct the jury on its obligation under section 812.025 prejudiced the defendant because, if properly instructed, the jury could have found the defendant guilty of only theft, the lesser offense.

Blackmon, 58 So. 3d at 346.

The First District found "some attraction to the Fourth District's reasoning in <u>Kiss</u> because section 812.025, by its terms, imposes an obligation on the trier of fact (here, the jury), not the trial court." <u>Blackmon</u>, 58 So. 3d at 346.

However, the First District disagreed with <u>Kiss</u>, choosing to follow its decision in <u>Alexander v. State</u>, 470 So. 2d 856 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), which held that the proper remedy for the trial court's failure to instruct the jury on section 812.025 is to vacate the conviction for the lesser offense. <u>Blackmon</u>, 58 So. 3d at 346-47. The First District reasoned:

In our view, this remedy better respects the jury's determination that the state met its burden to prove the greater offense and also avoids the need to speculate what verdict the jury might have returned had it been required to choose between the greater and lesser offenses. Moreover, in this case, we have no trouble concluding that the jury would have found Blackmon guilty of dealing in stolen property had it been required to choose between that offense and petit theft because the evidence established that Blackmon did not steal the bars for his personal use, but

rather that he sold the stolen bars at his earliest opportunity.

Id. at 347 (citation omitted).

The First District further explained that its decision was consistent with this Court's decision in Hall v. State, 826 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 2002):

The remedy of vacating the lesser offense is also consistent with the remedy directed by the Florida Supreme Court in Hall. The defendant in that case was charged with, among other things, grand theft and dealing in stolen property. See 826 So. 2d at 269. The defendant pled nolo contendere to those charges. The trial court accepted the plea and adjudicated the defendant guilty of both offenses. Id. appeal, the defendant argued that the trial court erred when it adjudicated him guilty of both offenses in violation of section 812.025. Id. The Fourth District affirmed, concluding that the statute did not apply when the defendant entered a plea of nolo contendere. Id. at 270.

On review, the Florida Supreme Court quashed the Fourth District's decision. $\underline{\text{Id}}$. at 272. The court reasoned that:

Section 812.025 allows the State to charge theft and dealing in stolen property in connection with one scheme or course of conduct in separate counts, but the trier of fact must then determine whether the defendant is a common thief who steals property with the intent to appropriate said property to his own use or to the use of a person not entitled to the use of the property or whether the defendant traffics or endeavors to traffic in the stolen property. . . . Just as the trier of fact must make a choice if the defendant goes to trial, so too must the trial judge make a choice if the defendant enters a plea of nolo contendere to both counts. . . . Thus,

we find that section 812.025 prohibits a trial court from adjudicating a defendant guilty of both theft and dealing in stolen property in connection with one scheme or course of conduct pursuant to a plea of nolo contendere.

Id. at 271. Notably, the supreme court did not construe section 812.025 to preclude a defendant from entering pleas to both theft and dealing with [sic] stolen property; rather, the court construed the statute to prohibit the trial court from adjudicating a defendant guilty of both offenses. As a result, the court remanded not to allow the defendant to withdraw his pleas, but rather with directions that either the grand theft count or the dealing in stolen property count be reversed and that the defendant be resentenced on the remaining count. Id. at 272.

Blackmon, 58 So. 3d at 347.

The First District reversed Mr. Blackmon's petit theft conviction and remanded with directions that the trial court vacate that conviction. Blackmon, 58 So. 3d at 348. The court also certified conflict with Kiss "regarding the proper remedy when, contrary to section 812.025, the defendant is convicted of both theft and dealing in stolen property." Id.

In his appeal, Mr. Blackmon also argued that the State's evidence was insufficient to support his convictions for petit theft and dealing in stolen property in case number 1D10-2018 and was insufficient to support the trial court's finding of a violation of probation in case number 1D10-2021 (1D10-2018 & 10-2021, Initial Brief of Appellant at 12-14, 18-19). As to both

the new convictions and the finding of a probation violation, Mr. Blackmon contended that the State's evidence was entirely circumstantial, that he presented a reasonable hypothesis of innocence which the State's evidence did not rebut and that the only evidence supporting the convictions and probation violation was the evidentiary inference in section 812.022(2), Fla. Stat. (2007). Relying upon State v. Graham, 238 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 1970), and its progeny, Mr. Blackmon argued that this evidentiary inference was legally insufficient to support his convictions and probation violation. The First District did not address these arguments.

Mr. Blackmon filed notice of his intent to seek discretionary review in this Court. The Court accepted jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the trial on the burglary and other charges, State witness Joseph Workman testified he was the shop foreman at W.D. Rogers Mechanical Contractors (R2018-V2. 38). On November 23, 2009, the shop closed at 3:30 p.m. ((R2018-V2. 38). The next morning, an employee told Workman he was missing his flat bar which had been on the table by the bandsaw (R2018-V2. 38). About 10 to 14 pieces of flat bar were missing and could not be found (R2018-V2. 39). The bars had been machined on one side,

cut into links and numbered a, b, c and so forth (R2018-V2. 39). The bars were stainless steel, half an inch thick and one and a half inches wide with one beveled edge (R2018-V2. 39-40).

Workman testified that the shop had a six foot chain link fence with barbed wire on the top (R2018-V2. 40). Workman could tell where someone had climbed over the fence because the barbed wire was pushed down a little bit, there were broken bushes below that area, and there were foot prints on the sides of metal racks inside the fence where someone climbed up and jumped back over the fence (R2018-V2. 40). Workman could also see where the bars had been thrown over the fence and stabbed into the ground (R2018-V2. 40-41).

Workman notified his boss and called several scrap companies to alert them about the missing bars (R2018-V2. 41). Workman was later notified that the bars were found at a scrap yard and went to the scrap yard to identify them (R2018-V2. 42). The materials for the bars cost three or four hundred dollars (R2018-V2. 42).

State witness Steven Harris was the assistant operations manager at Southern Recycling (R2018-V2. 45). When a person brings in items to sell, the company policy is to scan a copy of the person's picture ID and to take a picture of the person (R2018-V2. 45). In November of 2009, W.D. Rogers notified

Harris's company that some articles were missing from their shop, and Harris located those items in his business (R2018-V2. 46). Harris identified State Exhibit 1A as the receipt for those items dated November 24 (R2018-V2. 46, 47; R2018-V1. 48). State Exhibit 1B was a copy of the scale ticket and indicated the sale occurred at 8:02 a.m. (R2018-V2. 46-47; R2018-V1. 49). State Exhibit 1C was a scanned thumb print and a photograph of the customer (R2018-V2. 47; R2018-V1. 50). State Exhibit 1D was a scan of a driver's license (R2018-V2. 47; R2018-V1. 51). The photograph was taken on November 24 (R2018-V2. 47). The thumb print, photograph and driver's license were Mr. Blackmon's (R2018-V2. 80-81). The company paid \$61.80 for the bars (R2018-V2. 48).

The State rested (R2018-V2. 50). The defense moved for a judgment of acquittal, arguing that the State had presented no evidence that the theft, burglary and dealing in stolen property were committed by Mr. Blackmon (R2018-V2. 51). Defense counsel argued there was no evidence that Mr. Blackmon entered the facility, no evidence that Mr. Blackmon was the person who took the bars from the facility, and no evidence that Mr. Blackmon knew the bars were stolen (R2018-V2. 51). Pointing out that the State's case was based upon circumstantial evidence, defense counsel argued the State had not presented evidence from which

the jury could exclude every reasonable hypothesis except guilt (R2018-V2. 51, 52). Defense counsel acknowledged the inference created by the possession of recently stolen property, but argued that a conviction could not be based solely upon an inference "that because he possessed something that had recently been stolen, that he would have knowledge of it and that he's the one who took it" (R2018-V2. 52).

The State argued that it had met its burden because no reasonable hypothesis of innocence had been presented at that point and because the circumstances of the burglary combined with the possession of stolen property were sufficient (R2018-V2. 53). The State also argued that the evidence was not solely circumstantial because there was direct evidence that Mr. Blackmon sold the property (R2018-V2. 53). Defense counsel responded there was no direct evidence that Mr. Blackmon knew the items were stolen, that Mr. Blackmon was the person who entered the property, or that Mr. Blackmon was the person who committed the theft (R2018-V2. 54). The court denied the motion (R2018-V2. 54).

Defense witness Danna Faircloth testified she was Mr.

Blackmon's fiancé, and they had been together for two and a half
years (R2018-V2. 55). Faircloth and Mr. Blackmon lived together
and had one car (R2018-V2. 56). On November 23, 2009, at about

11:00 p.m., Faircloth picked Mr. Blackmon up from his job as a dishwasher at a restaurant (R2018-V2. 56). Mr. Blackmon went to work at 5:00 p.m. and got off at 12:00 a.m. (R2018-V2. 56).

On the way home, Faircloth and Mr. Blackmon saw some pipes laying on the side of the road on Baars Street (R2018-V2. 56). They then went home (R2018-V2. 57). The next morning, they got up at 5:00 a.m. because Mr. Blackmon's son had to catch the school bus at 6:00 a.m. (R2018-V2. 57). Mr. Blackmon took his son to the bus stop on November 24, 2009 (R2018-V2. 57). After Mr. Blackmon came back from the bus stop, Faircloth saw him pick up the pipes that were laying on the side of the road (R2018-V2. 58). The pipes were one house length from their home (R2018-V2. 58). Faircloth had one felony conviction and one conviction for a crime of dishonesty (R2018-V2. 58-59).

On cross-examination, Faircloth testified that when she and Mr. Blackmon saw the bars, they were on the curb or in the street (R2018-V2. 62). They stopped to look at them, and Mr. Blackmon said if they were still there in the morning, he was going to get them when he took his son to the bus stop (R2018-V2. 62). Faircloth could see the writing on the bars, and the bars were shiny in their headlights (R2018-V2. 63). In her deposition, Faircloth had testified she did not see the markings on the bars, only that they were shiny (R2018-V2. 63). She

misunderstood the prosecutor's previous question about seeing the markings (R2018-V2. 64). In early 2009, Mr. Blackmon brought charges against Faircloth and later dropped those charges (R2018-V2. 64). Faircloth was not prosecuted (R2018-V2. 64). Her testimony at Mr. Blackmon's trial was not her way of paying him back (R2018-V2. 64).

On redirect, Faircloth testified she and Mr. Blackmon were together at the time of the accusation against her, and they stayed together after the accusation (R2018-V2. 65). The accusation against her was just a misunderstanding (R2018-V2. 65).

Mr. Blackmon testified that in November 2009, he was employed as a dishwasher at a restaurant (R2018-V2. 77). On November 23, 2009, he went to work at 4:00 p.m. and got off around 12:30 a.m. (R2018-V2. 78). Faircloth took Mr. Blackmon to work and picked him up when he got off (R2018-V2. 78). In the early morning of November 24, as he was on the way home, Mr. Blackmon saw some pipes lying in the road next to the curb (R2018-V2. 78). He got out of the car and looked at them (R2018-V2. 78). He then went home, thinking someone might come back for the pipes (R2018-V2. 78). Mr. Blackmon could look out the back door of his home and see the corner where the pipes were (R2018-V2. 78).

The next morning, Mr. Blackmon got up at 5:00 or 5:30 a.m. to get his son ready for school (R2018-V2. 79). When he took his son to the bus stop, Mr. Blackmon saw that the pipes were still in the street, so he picked them up (R2018-V2. 79). He took the pipes to the junkyard when it opened (R2018-V2. 80). At the junkyard, he gave his driver's license, which contained his current address, gave a fingerprint and had his photograph taken (R2018-V2. 80-81). Mr. Blackmon knew he was being photographed and knew the junkyard made a copy of his driver's license (R2018-V2. 81).

Mr. Blackmon found the pipes on Baars, and W.D. Rogers

Mechanical Contractors was a quarter mile or a mile up the road,

also in Mr. Blackmon's neighborhood (R2018-V2. 81). Mr.

Blackmon had scrapped metal before (R2018-V2. 81-82). Mr.

Blackmon had five felony convictions and one conviction for a

crime of dishonesty (R2018-V2. 82).

On cross-examination, Mr. Blackmon testified that he picked up the steel bars because "[s]omebody didn't come back and get them. It was just, like, I was going to pick them up. I scrap junk" (R2018-V2. 85). He took the bars to the scrap yard "[t]o see if they were worth anything. Get the money for them" (R2018-V2. 85). Mr. Blackmon thought the bars were worth something and saw the writing on them (R2018-V2. 85-86). The

bars were "just something I found on the side there" (R2018-V2. 86). Mr. Blackmon testified that when people put items out for the garbage, he hauls the items (R2018-V2. 86). Mr. Blackmon got about \$60 for the bars (R2018-V2. 86).

The defense rested (R2018-V2. 87). Defense counsel renewed the motion for judgment of acquittal, arguing that there was no competent evidence presented which was inconsistent with Mr. Blackmon's reasonable hypothesis of innocence (R2018-V2. 87). Defense counsel argued there was no direct evidence that Mr. Blackmon entered the property, that he committed the theft or that he knew the bars were stolen when he sold them (R2018-V2. 87-88). Defense counsel argued that nothing in the State's case contradicted Mr. Blackmon's reasonable hypothesis of innocence that he found the bars on the side of the road (R2018-V2. 88).

The State argued it had presented competent evidence rebutting the defense theory and the decision whether or not to believe the defense theory was up to the jury (R2018-V2. 89). Defense counsel reiterated that the State had not presented any evidence inconsistent with the defense theory and that the inference created by recent possession of stolen property was insufficient (R2018-V2. 90, 91-92). The court denied the motion (R2018-V2. 92).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. The issue presented here is a criminal defendant's remedy when a jury is not instructed pursuant to section 812.025 and thus returns guilty verdicts on both theft and dealing in stolen property. Blackmon held that the proper remedy was to vacate the lesser conviction, while Kiss held that the proper remedy was a new trial. Kiss is correct. This Court has held that section 812.025 requires the finder of fact to determine whether the defendant is a common thief or is one who traffics in stolen property. This is a factual determination upon which a jury must be instructed. Failing to give such an instruction and thus allowing the jury to return verdicts on both theft and dealing in stolen property is fundamental error requiring a new trial. This Court should approve Kiss and disapprove Blackmon.
- 2. The evidentiary inference provided in section 812.022(2) is legally insufficient, standing alone, to support convictions for theft, dealing in stolen property or burglary, and the inference is also legally insufficient to support a probation revocation based upon any of those charges when the defendant presents a reasonable, unrebutted and innocent explanation for possessing the property. That inference was the only evidence supporting the State's case against Mr. Blackmon on both the new charges and the probation violation. Mr.

Blackmon's convictions and probation revocation should be discharged.

ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I

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