IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID DEVON BLACKMON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. SC11-903

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0045489

JAY KUBICA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0026341

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I:</u> WHETHER THE PROPER REMEDY IS TO VACATE THE LESSER OFFENSE WHEN THE JURY FINDS A DEFENDANT GUILTY OF BOTH THEFT AND DEALING IN STOLEN PROPERTY? (RESTATED)

Standard of Review

The decision of a trial court regarding a jury instruction is reviewed for an abuse of the trial court's discretion. Sheppard v. State, 659 So.2d 457, 459 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). However, if a defendant fails to preserve an issue, the review for fundamental error is de novo. Elliot v. State, 49 So.3d 269 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010).

Consequently, a claim of unpreserved fundamental error concerning jury instructions typically submits to the more favorable *de novo* standard of appellate review a claim that is entitled to significant deference if Petitioner properly preserves the error. As a result, this Court should strictly apply its fundamental error analysis in order to discourage possible "sandbagging" and "gamesmanship" in the future. See Thompson v. State, 949 So.2d 1169, 1179 n.7 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007), citing Black's Law Dictionary 1342 (7th ed. 1999) ("Sandbagging is defined as '[a] trial lawyer's remaining cagily silent when a possible error occurs at trial, with the hope of

¹ The State does not suggest that the Petitioner in the case *sub judice* engaged in "sandbagging" or "gamesmanship". Rather, the State simply notes that a failure to strictly apply fundamental error analysis in the case at bar might encourage such behavior in future cases.

preserving an issue for appeal if the court does not correct the problem.'"); see also J.B. v. State, 705 So.2d 1376, 1378 (Fla. 1998), citing Davis v. State, 661 So.2d 1193, 1197 (Fla. 1995) ("[The contemporaneous objection rule] prohibits counsel from attempting to gain a tactical advantage by allowing unknown errors to go undetected and then seeking a second trial if the first decision is adverse to the client.").

Preservation

Petitioner did not request that the jury be instructed to decide whether he was a common thief who intended to use the property for himself or a trafficker in stolen property, pursuant to §812.025, Fla. Stat., and Hall v. State, 826 So.2d 268 (Fla. 2002). Therefore, the issue of whether the trial court erred by not instructing the jury accordingly is not preserved for appellate review. Weaver v. State, 894 So.2d 178, 196 (Fla. 2004). In addition, Petitioner did not object to the trial court's sentence on both the dealing in stolen property charge and the petit theft charge, and so this error is likewise unpreserved for appellate review. While fundamental error is an exception to the requirement that error be preserved for review, only the issue of the dual convictions, as discussed below, amounts to fundamental error.

Merits

A contemporaneous objection is required, as it is in many situations, to preserve an error involving jury instructions. <u>State v. Delva</u>, 575 So.2d 643, 644 (Fla. 1991). While fundamental error is an exception to this rule, any

error in failing to instruct a jury on an element that is not in dispute is not fundamental.² Id at 645.

Section 812.025, Florida Statutes, provides:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a single indictment or information may, under proper circumstances, charge theft and dealing in stolen property in connection with one scheme or course of conduct in separate counts that may be consolidated for trial, but the trier of fact may return a guilty verdict on one or the other, but not both, of the counts.

As noted in by Judge Altenbernd in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 66 So.3d 360, 363 (Fla. 2d DCA 2011), this statute presents "a rare, if not unique, form of statutory double jeopardy..."

This Court addressed §812.025, Fla. Stat., in Hall, 826 So.2d 268. In that case, the defendant pleaded nolo contendere to dealing in stolen property and grand theft of the same property. Id at 269. The issue in Hall was whether the plea waived his right to challenge the adjudications of guilt for both offenses under §812.025, Fla. Stat. Id. This Court noted that the statute allows the State to try a defendant for both offenses. Id at 271. After discussing the legislative history of the statute, this Court determined that the fact-finder must base its decision to convict on theft or dealing in

² The State does not concede that failing to instruct the jury that they could not find Petitioner guilty of both Dealing in Stolen Property and Petit Theft was error. Rather, the State maintains that even if it were error to fail to instruct the jury, the error cannot be fundamental when the jury instruction was not requested, nor the issue in dispute. Whether it is error at all to fail to instruct a jury on this issue is a question raised by Williams v. State, 66 So.3d 360 (Fla. 2d DCA 2011), review granted, 70 So.3d 588 (Fla. 2011).

stolen property on this element; evidence that the defendant is a common thief who intended to use the property for personal use or the use of another results in a conviction for theft, but not dealing, whereas evidence that the defendant stole the property for the purpose of selling it results in a conviction for dealing, but not for theft. <u>Id</u>. Therefore, this Court remanded the case to the trial court to vacate one of the convictions. <u>Id</u> at 272. This Court did not require that the defendant be allowed to withdraw his plea.

As previously mentioned, this Court acknowledged in <u>Hall</u> that it was proper to charge a defendant with both counts. This Court merely precluded a conviction for both counts. Petitioner attempts to take this Court's decision in <u>Hall</u> further, arguing that it was fundamental error for the judge not to sua sponte create a special jury instruction regarding §812.025, Fla. Stat., even though he never requested such an instruction and this Court has never required it. While the State does recognize that it would be error to convict a defendant of both offenses, it is not error to try a defendant for both offenses.

Of particular import is that fundamental error in jury instructions is a very limited exception to the rules of preservation. The Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure recognize the importance of an objection regarding these instructions in Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.390(d), which provides that,

Objections. No party may raise on appeal the giving or failure to give an instruction unless the party objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the matter to which the party objects and the grounds of the objection. Opportunity shall be given to make the objection out of the presence of the jury.

Absent special circumstances, the failure to request a special jury instruction in writing may preclude appellate review. <u>Gavlick v. State</u>, 740 So.2d 1212 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999). In addition, this Court has held that it is not even fundamental when the trial court fails to give a jury instruction on an element of the offense when that element is not in dispute.

In <u>Delva</u>, 575 So.2d 643, the defendant was convicted of trafficking in cocaine. At trial, however, the jury was never instructed that the defendant's knowledge that the substance he possessed was cocaine was an element of the crime. Id at 644. Notably, the defendant never requested such an instruction, and the standard instruction at the time of the defendant's trial did not include this element. Id. Moreover, the defendant's knowledge of the illicit nature of the cocaine was not an issue in the trial; rather, as this Court stated,

There was no suggestion that Delva was arguing that while he knew of the existence of the package he did not know what it contained. Hence, the issue which was raised in *Dominguez* and corrected by the addition to the standard jury instruction was not involved in Delva's case. Because knowledge that the substance in the package was cocaine was not at issue as a defense, the failure to instruct the jury on that element of the crime could not be fundamental error and could only be preserved for appeal by a proper objection.

Id at 645.

In Morton v. State, 459 So.2d 322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), review denied, 467

³ The events of <u>Delva</u> took place prior the enactment of §893.101, Fla. Stat., which made clear that knowledge of the illicit nature of a substance was not an element for crimes in Chapter 893, Florida Statutes.

So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1985), the defendant was tried for three counts of robbery. While the jury was instructed on lesser-included offenses, they were not instructed at all as to what elements constituted robbery. <u>Id</u> at 323. This error was not objected to, and the defendant was found guilty of one robbery and two grand thefts. <u>Id</u>. The defendant's sole defense, however, did not involve a dispute as to whether a robbery had occurred; rather, it involved a claim that the defendant was simply not the one who committed the crime. <u>Id</u> at 324. The court held that since no element of robbery was ever in dispute, no fundamental error occurred. Id.

In the instant case, there was no dispute that the State could try Petitioner for both offenses. Moreover, Petitioner never presented a defense that he was more of a thief or more of a trafficker. Therefore, the failure to create a special jury instruction on this non-issue could not constitute fundamental error.

As in <u>Delva</u>, there is no standard jury instruction on this element, and as in <u>Delva</u> and <u>Morton</u>, there was no objection to a lack of an instruction or request for an adequate instruction made by Petitioner. To hold that failing to instruct on §812.025, Fla. Stat., amounts to fundamental error would engender precisely the strategy that the contemporaneous objection rule is designed to prohibit; specifically, counsel could allow the case to go the jury, knowing a failure to instruct on the element would have no effect on the client's defense. Even if the jury convicted the client, the client would still be guaranteed a second trial, in which he could try his defense all over again; the alleged "fundamental error" would be immaterial and simply be a

vehicle for obtaining a second chance at acquittal. <u>See Davis</u>, 661 So.2d 1193 at 1197. Such is the strategy which <u>Delva</u> and <u>Morton</u> prohibited; even something as important as an instruction on an element of a crime does not amount to fundamental error when the element is not in dispute. Consequently, Petitioner is not entitled to a new trial.

In <u>United States v. Gaddis</u>, 424 U.S. 544, 96 S.Ct. 1023, 47 L.Ed.2d 222 (1976), the United States Supreme Court was faced with a situation analogous to the one presented by §812.025, Fla. Stat., and held that the appropriate remedy was to vacate one of the convictions. The United States Supreme Court specifically rejected the remedy of a second trial. The concurrence reasoned that when a jury convicts of both crimes, a conviction on one count "casts absolutely no doubt on the validity of" the other count. The concurrence stated that it may be concluded "with satisfactory certainty" that a jury having convicted for both offenses, if properly instructed would have convicted of robbery. The concurrence observed that a new trial "would result in an expenditure of court resources and the possibility of an acquittal through loss of evidence or other causes of a reliably convicted defendant for no reason." Id at 551-553 (White, J., concurring).⁴

⁴ <u>Gaddis</u> was discussed in a footnote of the law review that was the basis of Florida's Anti-Fencing Act. As the law review noted, "a thief generally cannot be convicted for receiving the fruits of his own theft. Consequently, where a relationship exists between the thief and the receiver, it is sometimes necessary to indict in the alternative, permitting the jury to convict for theft or receipt, but not both", citing <u>Gaddis</u>. G. Robert Blakely & Michael Goldsmith, *Criminal Redistribution of Stolen Property: The Need for*

In <u>Victory v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 67 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), approved by <u>Hall</u>, the defendant pleaded to a dealing in stolen property charge in one county when he had previously been convicted of stealing a trailer, the subject of the dealing charge, in another county. The court held that convictions for both dealing and theft of the same stolen property were forbidden by §812.025, Fla. Stat., and so vacated the later dealing in stolen property charge. <u>Id</u> at 68.

In <u>Ridley v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981), the defendant was convicted of both dealing in stolen property and theft of the same property. The court, in discussing the appropriate remedy for these improper dual-convictions, analogized to double-jeopardy cases. <u>Id</u> at 1002. The court held that since the jury had found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt as to both charges, the lesser should be reversed to cure the error resulting from the dual-convictions. Id.

In the instant case, the First District Court of Appeal echoed the reasoning of \underline{Ridley} . The First District held that the remedy of vacating the lesser,

...better respects the jury's determination that the state met its burden to prove the greater offense and also avoids the need to speculate what

Law Reform, 74 Mich. L.Rev. 1512, 1568, n.308 (1976). Gaddis was decided in 1976, the year before the adoption of the Anti-Fencing Act in 1977. Gaddis was basically hot off the presses when the Act was being considered by the Florida Legislature. It is a reasonable assumption that Gaddis was the basis for §812.025, Fla. Stat.

verdict the jury might have returned had it been required to choose between the greater and lesser offenses.

Blackmon v. State, 58 So.3d 343, 347 (Fla. 1st DCA 2011). Thus, it is not the failure to instruct the jury, and its attendant concern as to which offense the jury would have chose, that is really at issue; rather, it is the prohibition against dual-convictions which is the true error at issue. As such, the only remedy which serves the dual purposes of respecting the jury's verdicts and complying with the statutory prohibition on dual-convictions is the vacate the lesser of the two convictions.

The State acknowledges that many courts have held that a failure to instruct the jury according to §812.025, Fla. Stat., is fundamental error that may be considered on appeal absent an objection from the defendant. However, the State submits that many courts have used loose language when addressing this issue, as the failure to instruct the jury as to §812.025, Fla. Stat., typically arises along with the issue of improper dual-convictions for dealing in stolen property and theft, also in violation of §812.025, Fla. Stat. While the former is not fundamental error, the latter is fundamental error.

⁵ However, even if there was still a concern as to which conviction the jury would pick, the evidence would only allow the jury to pick dealing in stolen property, as noted by the <u>Blackmon</u> court. <u>Id</u> at 347. As discussed below in Issue II, Petitioner's own version of how he came to possess the bars established that he stole the bars, pursuant to §705.102, Fla. Stat. Petitioner's version of events further established that he took the bars for the express purpose of selling them. (II.18 85). Consequently, based on the criteria outlined in <u>Hall</u>, the jury could only have picked dealing in stolen property, as the undisputed evidence from Petitioner was that he took the bars for the purpose of selling them.

In <u>Rhames v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 724 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), the court held that an error in failing to instruct the jury on §812.025, Fla. Stat., was fundamental because the convictions were precluded by statute. <u>Id</u> at 727. Thus, the remedy was to vacate the lesser of the two offenses. <u>See also Daniels v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); <u>Ebenetter v. State</u>, 419 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 1192 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); <u>Lennear v. State</u>, 424 So.2d 151 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). Although the State asserts that these courts are correct that fundamental error did occur, the fundamental error was not the failure to sua sponte create a special instruction; rather, the fundamental error was the improper dual-convictions themselves. The district courts in these cases did apply the correct remedy, which is to vacate the conviction for the lesser.

Petitioner argues that the opinion in <u>Kiss v. State</u>, 42 So.3d 810 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010), should be followed.⁶ In Kiss, the Fourth District held that

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